

**AUSTRALIAN PSYCHOLOGISTS AND
COUNSELLORS IN SCHOOLS
SOUTH AUSTRALIA INC**



CONSTITUTION

CONTENTS

1. NAME

2. OBJECTS

3. MEMBERSHIP

3.1 Application for membership

3.2 Membership status

3.3 Membership fees

3.4 Admission and rejection of members

3.5 Cessation of membership

3.6 Appeal against rejection or termination of membership

3.7 Register of members

3.8 Entitlements and rights not transferable

3.9 Members liabilities

4. AFFILIATION

4.1 Ordinary affiliation

4.2 Associate affiliation

4.3 Affiliation of individuals

4.4 Affiliation fees

4.5 Membership registers of affiliated body

5. MANAGEMENT

5.1 Executive Committee

5.2 Relationship between APACS South Australia Inc and APACS Association

6. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES – NATIONAL BODY AND STATE CHAPTERS

6.1 Membership of Executive Committee

6.2 Election of Executive Committee members

6.3 Duties of Secretary

6.4 Duties of Treasurer

6.5 Casual vacancies on Executive Committees

6.6 Removal of member from office

6.7 Filling of vacancies on Executive

6.8 Function of Executive Committees

7. MEETINGS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES

8. DELEGATION OF POWERS TO A SUB-COMMITTEE

9. VOTING AND DECISIONS

10. GENERAL MEETINGS

10.1 Annual General Meetings – holding of

10.2 Annual General Meetings – calling of and business at

10.3 Special General Meetings – calling of

10.4 Quorums at General Meetings

11. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

12. PROCEDURE FOR GENERAL MEETINGS

12.1 Presiding member

12.2 Adjournment

12.3 Making of decisions/voting

12.4 Voting by proxy

12.5 Special Resolution

13. FUNDS

13.1 Source of funds

13.2 Management of funds

13.3 Financial year

14. RULES OF THE ASSOCIATION

14.1 Adopting the rules

14.2 Copies of rules

14.3 Alteration of rules

15. CUSTODY OF BOOKS

16. INSPECTION OF BOOKS

17. SERVICE OF NOTICES

18. DISSOLUTION, AND DISTRIBUTION OF SURPLUS ASSETS

CONSTITUTION OF
THE AUSTRALIAN PSYCHOLOGISTS AND COUNSELLORS IN SCHOOLS
SOUTH AUSTRALIA INC

1. NAME

The name of the association shall be the Australian Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools - South Australia Incorporated.

2. OBJECTS

The objects of the association shall be:

- 2.1 To work for the professional development and welfare of members.
- 2.2 To promote the school psychology and counselling position as one of responsibility and significance in education.
- 2.3 To work for the betterment of school psychology and counselling and Special Education provisions.
- 2.4 To promote an adequate level of professional training and supervision.
- 2.5 To promote a forum for members to discuss matters of common concern and professional interest.
These could include:
 - 2.5.1 Philosophies underlying education in general, with school psychology and counselling, special education and support services in particular.
 - 2.5.2 Current trends in education.
 - 2.5.3 Provision for children with special needs.
 - 2.5.4 Community involvement and the rights and responsibilities of parents.
 - 2.5.5 Current and proposed policies of Ministries and Departments of Education.
 - 2.5.6 Other matters of interest to members.
- 2.6 To affiliate with national and international school psychology and counselling organisations.
- 2.7 To initiate discussions with senior officers of Ministries or Departments of Education, those discussions to centre around matters of common interest to members.
- 2.8 To comment publicly where appropriate on professional issues of relevance to our membership.
- 2.9 To promote research in the area of school psychology and counselling.
- 2.10 To promote and publish such journals, monographs and other publications as the executive shall from time to time decide.
- 2.11 To cooperate with other professional, educational, welfare and community organisations.

3. MEMBERSHIP

3.1 Application for membership:

- 3.1.1 Membership of the Australian Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools South Australia Inc shall be through the Chapters. State Executive Committee shall within the constitutional guidelines, determine a person's suitability for membership as well as their appropriate status.
- 3.1.2 Every applicant for any class of membership of the Association shall be proposed by one member and seconded by another member. The application for membership shall be in writing, signed by the applicant and their proposer and seconder and shall be in such form as the appropriate Executive Committee from time to time prescribes.
- 3.1.3 Every person who at the time of incorporation of the Association was a member of the unincorporated association and who agrees in writing to become a member of the incorporated Association shall be admitted by the appropriate Executive Committee to the same membership status as held previously.

3.2 Membership Status:

3.2.1 Ordinary Members: An Ordinary member shall be a person who:

- i) has successfully completed an accredited post-graduate course which incorporates appropriate psychology and counselling training which the Executive recognises as suitable training for school psychology and counselling activities and is carrying out or has carried out duties in an educational institution or related service of the same or similar nature to those recognised by the Executive as normal school psychology and counselling practice; or
- ii) has other training or practical experience which the Executive recognises as suitable for membership of the Association.

The number of Ordinary members shall be unlimited.

3.2.2 Associate Members: An Associate member shall be a person who wishes to subscribe to the objects of the Association, and to receive publications and participate in Association activities, but who is ineligible for Ordinary membership. Associate members have no voting rights.

The number of Associate members shall be unlimited.

3.2.3 Lifetime Members: A Lifetime member shall be a person who:

- i) has Life membership conferred at an Annual General Meeting by resolution of any Executive Committee which shall have considered nominations from Ordinary members in recognition of exceptional service to the interests of the Association at the Executive meeting prior to any such Annual General Meeting; and
- ii) shall be entitled to all rights of Ordinary members but from the date of their election shall be exempt from the payment of all levies and subscriptions.

The number of Life Memberships shall be limited in each State to five (5), with a maximum of two (2) to be conferred in any one year.

3.2.4 Honorary Members: An Honorary member is a person who:

- i) has Honorary membership conferred at an Annual General Meeting by resolution of any Executive Committee which shall have considered nominations from Ordinary or Life

Members in recognition of interest in and support of the Association, or to psychology and counselling in schools and

ii) shall have no voting rights.

The number of Honorary Memberships shall be limited in each state to five (5), with a maximum of two (2) to be conferred in any one year.

3.2.5 Emeritus Members: An Emeritus Member is a person who:

i) has resigned from a psychology and counselling in schools position; but

ii) has been a financial Ordinary Member of the Association for a total of five years; and

iii) shall have no voting rights; and

iv) shall pay an Annual Membership fee of 50% of the current annual Ordinary Membership fee.

3.2.6 Provisional Members: A Provisional Member shall be a person who:

i) is currently undertaking an accredited post-graduate course which incorporates psychology and counselling in schools training which the National Executive recognises as suitable training for psychology and counselling in schools;

ii) shall, on the completion of the training course undertake such activities as recognised by the National Executive as being normal psychology and counselling in schools – ref. 3.2.1 i);

iii) shall, until accredited with Ordinary Membership status, pay fees at Associate Membership rates, and have no voting rights.

3.3 Membership Fees:

3.3.1 The amount levied for annual membership fees for each class of membership shall be determined from time to time at any general meeting. Included in such membership fees shall be the national membership fee of the APACS the amount of which shall be determined for both Ordinary and Associate Members at any general meeting of the National Executive of the APACS.

3.3.2 Such membership fees shall be paid to the Executive Committee at the time and in the manner determined by them.

3.4 Admission and Rejection of Members:

3.4.1 Applications for all types of membership status which are accompanied by the appropriate fee shall be considered at the next Executive Committee meeting where the admission or rejection of the applicant shall be determined.

3.4.2 Any applicant who receives a majority of votes from the Executive Committee members present at the meeting which considers their application shall be accepted as a member at the membership status applied for.

3.4.3 Following the consideration of an application the Membership Secretary shall immediately give the applicant notice in writing of acceptance or rejection of their application.

3.4.4 Unsuccessful Applicants fees shall be refunded.

3.5 Cessation of Membership: A person ceases to be a member if that person:

- 3.5.1 Dies
- 3.5.2 Delivers to the Secretary their resignation in writing; or
- 3.5.3 If that person:
 - i) is convicted of an indictable offence; or
 - ii) fails to comply with any of the provisions of these rules; or
 - iii) has membership fees in arrears for a period of two months or more; or
 - iv) conducts themselves in a manner considered to be prejudicial to the character or interests of the Association.
- 3.5.4 The member concerned shall be given a full and fair opportunity to present their case in either or both oral and written form, and if the Executive Committee resolves to terminate their membership it shall instruct the Secretary to advise the member in writing within 7 days of the meeting.
- 3.6 Appeal Against Rejection or Termination of Membership:
 - 3.6.1 A person whose application for membership has been rejected or terminated may, within one month of receiving written notice, lodge with the Secretary written notice of their intention to appeal against the decision of the Executive Committee.
 - 3.6.2 Within three months of the receipt of any notice of intention to appeal, the Secretary shall convene a general meeting to consider the appeal. At any such meeting the applicant shall be given the opportunity to fully present their case as shall the Executive Committee members who rejected or terminated the membership.
 - 3.6.3 The general meeting shall:
 - i) transact no business other than the appeal; and
 - ii) the members present shall vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the resolution should be revoked or confirmed.
 - 3.6.4 Any person whose application is rejected and who does not appeal against the decision within the time prescribed by these rules, or whose appeal is unsuccessful, shall be refunded the amount of any fee paid.
- 3.7 Register of Members:
 - 3.7.1 The Executive Committee shall keep a Membership Register which records the names and residential addresses of all persons admitted to membership of the Association, the dates of their admission and their membership numbers.
 - 3.7.2 The National Executive of the Australian Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools Association shall maintain a record, based on preferred mailing addresses, of the membership of the APACS which shall be updated regularly on advice from each State Membership Secretary.
 - 3.7.3 Membership numbers shall be determined as follows:

Membership State / Year of Membership / Number – e.g. SA/87/025

- 3.7.4 Particulars of deaths, resignations, terminations and reinstatements of membership and any other particulars, as the Executive Committees or members at a general meeting may decide, shall also be recorded.
- 3.7.5 The Membership Register shall be available for inspection at any reasonable time by any member who applies to the Secretary for such inspection.
- 3.8 Entitlements and Membership not transferable:
- 3.8.1 A right, privilege or obligation which a person has by reason of being a member of the Association:
- i) is not transferable to another person, and
 - ii) terminates upon cessation of the person's membership.
- 3.8.2 Members changing residence from one state to another shall elect to either retain APACS-South Australia Inc. membership or apply for membership through the new state, keeping their original membership number with the new state prefix added e.g. Q/87/037—WA/Q/87/037.
- 3.9 Members Liabilities:
- 3.9.1 The liability of any member of the Association to contribute towards the payment of the debts and liabilities of the Association or to the cost, charges and expenses of the winding up of the Association is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid by the member in respect of membership of the Association as required by rule 3.3.

4. AFFILIATION

- 4.1 Ordinary Affiliation:
- 4.1.1 Any formalised professional body of persons which has, to the satisfaction of the APACS South Australia Inc. an interest psychology and school counselling activities, and whose requirements for eligibility for membership reflect the purpose, intent and membership of the Association, can be recommended to APACS for affiliation.
- 4.1.2 The Executive Committee shall determine the eligibility of any body seeking Ordinary Affiliation and may admit those bodies whose members would be eligible for Ordinary Membership. Such Ordinary Affiliates shall have the same rights as Ordinary Members of the APACS.
- 4.2 Associate Affiliation:
- 4.2.1 Bodies eligible for Ordinary Affiliation by which themselves have an associate membership category which is ineligible for the National Executive as Associate Affiliates. Associate Affiliates shall have no voting rights (see 3.2.2.)
- 4.2.2 Bodies which are deemed ineligible for Ordinary affiliation but wish to subscribe to the objects of the Association and to receive publications and participate in Association activities may apply for Associate Affiliation.
- 4.2.3 Members of bodies which qualify for Associate and or Ordinary Affiliation who themselves hold the required qualifications for Ordinary Membership may apply directly to the APACS South Australia Inc through their APACS State Representative, should they wish to become Ordinary Members.

4.3 Affiliation Fees

4.3.1 Both Ordinary and Associate Affiliation will incur payment of an affiliation fee for each member which shall be set by any general meeting of the APACS South Australia Inc.

4.3.2 Such fees shall be paid by each affiliated body to the APACS South Australia Inc., with an accompanying list of financial members, at the end of the March, June, September and December quarters.

4.4 Membership Register of Affiliated Bodies

For the purposes of administration and newsletter mailouts, affiliated bodies shall provide the National Executive with regular updates of their membership information so as to maintain the accuracy of the national record (see Rule 3.7.1).

5. MANAGEMENT

The management of the Association shall be vested in the Executive Committee of the APACS SA Inc.:

5.1 Executive Committee

5.1.1 The office bearers of Executive Committees of the Association shall be the President, Immediate-Past President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, Membership Secretary, Public Officer, State Representative (for the National Executive Committee), as well as other ordinary members of the Executive as determined at a general meeting.

5.1.2 State Representatives for the National Executive shall be elected prior to the National Annual General Meeting by the respective State Body and their election ratified at the National Annual General Meeting.

5.2 Relationship Between APACS South Australia Inc. and APACS Association

5.2.1 The National Executive Committee has a major role in facilitating communication between State Bodies (and affiliated associations).

5.2.2 Whilst all Executive Committees shall work towards fulfilling the objects of the Association, the National Executive has no authority over, or capacity to interfere in, the day to day affairs of the State Bodies unless otherwise specified in these rules.

5.2.3 In the event of the organisation of a national conference (which would normally occur every two years and coincide with a national annual general meeting and transfer of executive responsibilities from one state to another) the host State Body shall undertake the major organisation responsibilities which shall include:

i) the establishment of a national conference account which shall be closed at the completion of all financial transactions relating to such a conference; and

ii) the establishment of a national conference sub-committee.

5.2.4 The proceeds from national conferences shall remain with the National Body. Arrangements for the disbursement of funds from any other activities which shall be jointly organised between the National Body and State Chapters shall be agreed upon prior to the holding of such activities.

6. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

6.1 Membership of Executive Committee:

- 6.1.1 All members of the Executive shall be financial Ordinary or Life Members of the Association.
- 6.1.2 The majority of members of the Executives shall be field or school psychologists or counselling personnel or employed in related fields by other than Departments or Ministries of Education.
- 6.1.3 Where practicable at least two members of Executive should be country members.
- 6.1.4 The Presidents of the Executive Committee shall be elected for a minimum period of two years – the first as President and the second (if not re-elected for the second term) as Immediate Past President.

6.2 Election of Executive Committee Members:

- 6.2.1 All office-bearers and Ordinary Members of the Executive shall retire at each Annual General Meeting but shall all be eligible for re-election except that the persons holding position on the Executive as State Representatives shall not be eligible for more than two successive terms.
- 6.2.2 Nominations of candidates for election as office bearers of the Association or as ordinary members of the committees:
 - i) may be made in writing, signed by two members of the Association and the candidate, to the Secretary at a time determined by the Executive prior to the Annual General Meeting; or
 - ii) if at the commencement of the Annual General Meeting there be an insufficient number of candidates nominated, a call for nominations shall occur which shall have the agreement of the candidate and be a nominating member and seconded by a further member.
- 6.2.3 If insufficient nominations are received any vacant positions of the committees shall be deemed to be casual vacancies.
- 6.2.4 If the number of nominations received is equal to the number of vacancies to be filled, the persons nominated shall be deemed to be elected.
- 6.2.5 If the number of nominations received exceed the number of vacancies to be filled, a ballot shall be held.
- 6.2.6 The ballot for the election of office-bearers and ordinary members of the committee shall be conducted at the Annual General Meeting in such usual and proper manner as the committee may direct and may include the arrangement by the Secretary of a postal ballot.
- 6.2.7 The nomination of a candidate for election under these rules is not valid if that candidate has been nominated for election to another office at the same election.
- 6.2.8 Each member of the committee shall, subject to these rules, hold office until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting following the date of the member's election.
- 6.2.9 In the event of a casual vacancy occurring in the membership of a committee, the committee, may appoint a member of the Association to fill the vacancy and the member so appointed shall hold office, subject to these rules, until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting following the appointment.

6.3. Duties of Secretary

6.3.1 The secretary of the Association shall, as soon as possible after being appointed Secretary, lodge notice with the Association of their address.

6.3.2 It is the duty of the Secretary to keep minutes of:

i) all appointments of office-bearers and members of the Committee;

ii) the names of members of the Committee present at a Committee meeting or general meeting; and

iii) all proceedings at committee and general meetings.

Such minutes shall be signed by the chairperson of the meeting or by the chairperson of the next meeting.

6.4 Duties of Treasurer

6.4.1 It is the duty of the Treasurer of the Association to ensure that:

i) all money due to the Association is collected and received and that all payment authorised by the Association are made;

ii) correct books and accounts are kept showing the financial affairs of the Association including full details of all receipts and expenditure connected with the activities of the association; and

iii) all such books and accounts are presented to the auditor for the preparation of the auditor's report to be presented to the Secretary prior to the holding of the next Annual General Meeting.

6.5 Casual vacancies on Executive Committees:

6.5.1 For the purpose of these rules, a casual vacancy occurs in the office of a member of a committee if the member:

i) dies;

ii) ceases to be a member of the Association;

iii) resigns office by notice in writing given to the Secretary; or

iv) fails to attend two consecutive meetings of the Executive of which they have been duly informed and does not notify the Secretary on either occasion of their inability to attend.

6.6 Removal of Member from Office:

6.6.1 The Association in a general meeting may by resolution remove any member of a committee from office before the expiration of the term of that member's office and may by resolution appoint another person to hold office until the expiration of the term of office of the member removed.

6.6.2 Committee members to whom a proposed resolution (referred to in rule 6.6.1) relates must be given twenty-one days notice in writing of such resolution.

6.6.3 Where such a member of the committee makes representations in writing to the Secretary or President (not exceeding a reasonable length) and requests that the representations be notified to the members of the Association, a copy of the representations may be sent to each member of the Association or, if they are not sent, then the member is entitled to require that the representations be read out at the meeting at which the resolution is considered.

6.7 Filling of Vacancies on the Executive:

6.7.1 In the event of not more than two members of the Committee having ceased to be members, the remaining Committee:

i) may continue to act notwithstanding up to two casual vacancies; but

ii) shall have power to appoint any member of the Association to fill a casual vacancy on the Executive Committee until the next Annual General Meeting.

6.7.2 in the event of more than two Committee members ceasing to be members, the remaining Committee shall immediately arrange for a Special General Meeting to fill the vacancies by election. In the event of the entire Committee resigning, the outgoing Secretary shall arrange for such election.

6.8 Function of Executive Committees:

6.8.1 Except as otherwise provided by these rules and subject to resolutions of the members of the Association at any general meeting the Executive Committees:

i) shall have the general control and management of the administration of the affairs, property and funds of the Association;

ii) shall have authority to interpret the meaning of these rules and any matter relating to the Association on which these rules are silent;

iii) may exercise all such functions as may be exercised by the Association other than those functions that are required by these rules to be exercised by a general meeting of members of the Association; and

iv) has power to perform all such acts and do all such things as appear necessary or desirable for the proper management of the affairs, property and funds of the Association.

7. MEETINGS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES

7.1 Ordinary Executive Meetings:

7.1.1 Executive Committee shall meet at least at such time and place as the Committees may decide.

7.1.2 At least one ordinary meeting of the full National Executive Committee of the APACS, exclusive of any general meetings, shall be held in each year at a time and place determined by the national President in consultation with the National Executive Committee. It shall be the joint responsibility of the national APACS and APACS South Australia Inc. to meet the costs of each State Representative in attending such a meeting.

7.1.3 Where the nature of the business is deemed appropriate by the Executive other full Executive Meetings may be held by telephone conference.

7.1.4 Members of the Association may, with the chairperson's permission, attend Executive Meetings as observers.

7.2 A Special Meeting of any Executive Committee shall be convened by the Secretary of that Committee:

i) on the written requisition of not less than one third of the Executive Committee members which clearly states the reasons for convening the meeting and the proposed business to be transacted; and

ii) provided that at least fourteen days notice of the Special Meeting, as well as the nature of the proposed business, shall be given to members of the Executive Committee.

No business other than that proposed in the requisition shall be transacted.

7.3 Quorum for Executive Committees: For the purpose of an Executive Committee meeting a Quorum shall be:

7.3.1 Four members personally present for an ordinary Committee Meeting of the APACS South Australia Inc.

7.3.2 A simple majority of the number of committee members elected and / or appointed at the end of the last general meeting for a full meeting.

7.4 The Executive Committees may meet and regulate their proceedings as they see fit.

7.5 If with half an hour of the time appointed for a meeting a quorum is not present the meeting shall:

i) lapse, if it was a Special Meeting convened upon the requisition of the Executive Committee;

ii) stand adjourned, in any other case, to the same hour of the same day in the following week at a mutually convenient place determined by the Committee; or

iii) be dissolved if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour of the appointed time.

7.6 At any Executive Committee meeting:

i) The President or the Vice-President shall take the chair; or

ii) If these members are absent or unwilling to act, then the committee members may choose one of their number to chair the meeting.

8. DELEGATION OF POWERS TO A SUB-COMMITTEE

8.1 The Executive Committee may delegate any of its functions to one or more subcommittees (consisting of such members of the Association as the Committee sees fit) which shall, in the exercise of the functions so delegated, conform to any regulations that may be imposed on it by the Executive Committee.

8.2 The sub-committee may exercise any of the functions delegated by the Committee other than:

i) this power of delegation; and

ii) a function which is imposed on the committee by law.

8.3 A sub-committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper.

8.4 Any act or thing done by the sub-committee acting in the exercise of a delegation under this rule has the same force and effect as it would have if it had been done or suffered by the Committee.

8.5 The Committee may revoke wholly or in part any delegation under this rule.

9. VOTING AND DECISIONS

9.1 Questions arising at a meeting of a Committee or of any sub-committee appointed by the Committee shall be determined by a majority of the votes of Committee or sub-committee members present at the meeting.

9.2 Each member present at a Committee or sub-committee meeting (including the chairperson) is entitled to one vote and, in the case of an equality of votes the question shall be deemed to be decided in the negative.

- 9.3 Subject to rule 6.7.1 the Committees may act, notwithstanding any vacancy on the Committees.
- 9.4 Any act or thing done or suffered, or purporting to have been done or suffered, by a Committee or by a sub-committee appointed by a committee, is valid and effectual notwithstanding any defect that may afterwards be discovered in the appointment or qualification of any member of such Committees.

10. GENERAL MEETINGS

10.1 Annual General Meetings – Holding of

10.1.1 With the exception of the first Annual General Meeting of the Association, the Association shall convene an Annual General Meeting once in each calendar year and within the period of three months of the expiry of the financial year.

10.1.2 The Association shall hold an Annual General Meeting:

- i) within twelve months of its incorporation; and
- ii) within three months after the end of its financial year.

10.2 Annual General Meetings – Calling of and Business at

10.2.1 The Annual General Meeting of any Committee of the Association shall be convened at such place and time as the Committee sees fit.

10.2.2 In addition to any other business which may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting the business shall be:

- i) to confirm the minutes of the last Annual General Meeting and of any Special General Meeting held since that meeting;
- ii) to receive reports from the Committee concerning the Association's activities of the preceding financial year;
- iii) to receive the auditor's report upon the books and accounts for the preceding financial year;
- iv) to elect office-bearers of the Association and ordinary members of the Committee; and
- v) to appoint an auditor.

10.3 Special General Meetings:-Calling of

10.3.1 A Committee may direct the Secretary, whenever they think fit, to convene a Special General Meeting of the Association.

10.3.2 A Committee shall, on the written requisition of not less than 5% of the total number of members, direct the Secretary to convene a Special General Meeting of the Association.

10.3.3 For a Special General Meeting the members requisition:

- i) shall state the purpose or purposes of the meeting;
- ii) shall be signed by the members making the requisition;
- iii) shall be lodged with the Secretary; and
- iv) may consist of several documents in a similar form, each signed by one or more members making the requisition.

10.3.4. If the Committee fails to convene a Special General Meeting to be held within one month after the date on which the Secretary receives the members requisition, any one or more of the members who made the requisition may convene a Special General Meeting to be held not more than three months after that date.

10.3.5 Such Special General Meetings (Rule 10.3.4.) shall be convened as nearly as is practicable in the same manner as general meetings are convened by the Committee and any member who thereby incurs expense is entitled to be reimbursed by the Association for the expense so incurred.

10.4. Quorums at General Meetings:

10.4.1. Quorums at General Meeting shall be double the number of office-bearers on the Executive Committee plus one – for general meetings.

10.4.2 No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members is present during the time the meeting is considering that business. For the purposes of this rule “member” includes a person attending as a proxy.

10.4.3 If, within half an hour of the appointed time for the commencement of a general meeting, a quorum is not present, the meeting:

i) if convened upon the requisition of members shall be dissolved; and

ii) in any other case shall stand adjourned to the same day in the following week at the time and place specified by the Committee; and

iii) if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour after the appointed time for commencement of the meeting, the members present shall constitute a quorum.

11. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

11.1 Except where the business proposed to be dealt with requires a special resolution of the Association, the Secretary shall, at least fourteen days before the date fixed for the general Meeting notify each member in writing of the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the proposed business.

11.2 Where special resolution of the Association is required, the Secretary shall, at least twenty one days before the date fixed for the General Meeting, notify each member in writing specifying in addition to the matter required in rule 11.1, the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution.

11.3 No business other than that specified in the notice convening a general meeting shall be transacted except in the case of an Annual General Meeting, business which may be transacted pursuant to rule 10.2.2.

11.4 A member wishing to bring any business before a general meeting may give written notice of that business to the Secretary who shall include it in the next notice of a general meeting.

12. PROCEDURES FOR GENERAL MEETINGS

12.1 Presiding Member:

12.1.1 The President, or in their absence, the Vice-President of the Association.

12.1.2 If such office-bearers are absent from a general meeting, or are unwilling to act, the members present shall elect one of their number to preside as chairperson of the meeting.

12.1.3 The chairperson shall maintain order and conduct the meeting in a proper and orderly manner.

12.2 Adjournment:

12.2.1 The chairperson of a General Meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the consent of the majority of members present at the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and place to place but no other business shall be transacted at an adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting at which the adjournment took place.

12.2.2 Where a general meeting is adjourned for twenty-one days or more, the Secretary shall give written notice of the adjourned meeting to each member of the Association stating the date, time and place of the meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting.

12.2.3 Notice of an adjournment of a general meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjournment meeting is not required to be given except as provided in rules 12.2.1. and 12.2.2.

12.3 Making of Decisions / Voting:

12.3.1 Every question, matter or resolution shall be decided by a majority of votes of the members present or voting by proxy.

12.3.2 Every Ordinary or Life member present shall be entitled to one vote provided that all money due and payable by the member or proxy to the Association has been paid, other than the amount of the annual membership fee payable in respect of the then current year.

12.3.3 In the case of an equality of votes on a question at a General Meeting, the chairperson is entitled to a second, or casting, vote.

12.3.4 Voting shall be by show of hands or a division of members, unless not less than one fifth of the members present demand a ballot, in which case there shall be a secret ballot. The chairperson shall then appoint two members to conduct the ballot in the manner the chairperson has decided. The chairperson shall declare the result of the ballot which will be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting.

12.4 Voting by Proxy

12.4.1 Each member shall be entitled to appoint another member as proxy by notice given to the Secretary not later than twenty four hours before the time of the meeting for which the proxy is appointed.

12.4.2 The notice appointing the proxy shall be in writing designating the member appointed as proxy and signed by the member requiring this service.

12.4.3 No member may hold more than two proxies and unless otherwise instructed by the written notice to the Secretary the proxy may vote as they think fit.

12.5 Special Resolution: A resolution of the Association is a special resolution if:

12.5.1 It is passed by a majority which comprises not less than three quarters of such members of the Association as, being entitled under these rules to do so, vote in person or by proxy at a general meeting of which not less than 21 days written notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution was given in accordance with these rules; or

12.5.2 Where it is made to appear to the Committee that it is not possible or practicable for the resolution to be passed in the manner specified in

12.5.1. the resolution is passed in a manner specified by the Committee.

13. FUNDS

13.1 Source of Funds

13.1.1 The funds of the Association shall be derived from annual membership fees, donations, registration fees and other sources as the Committee determines and shall be subject to any resolution passed by the Association in general meeting.

13.1.2 All money received by the Association shall be deposited as soon as practicable and without deduction to the credit of the Association's account.

13.1.3 The Association shall, as soon as practicable after receiving any money, issue an appropriate receipt.

13.2 Management of Funds:

13.2.1 The assets and income of the organisation shall be applied solely in furtherance of its objects and no portion shall be distributed directly or indirectly to its members except as bona fide compensation for services

rendered or expenses incurred on behalf of the organisation.

13.2.2 All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable instruments shall be signed by any two members of a Committee or employees of the association, being members or employees authorised to do so by a Committee.

13.3 Financial Year: The financial year shall end on 31 December.

14. RULES OF THE ASSOCIATION

14.1 Adopting of rules:

14.1.1 The rules (constitution) of the Association shall be formally adopted by the Association.

14.2 Copies of Rules:

14.2.1 The Secretary of the Association shall keep the rules, a copy of which shall be available to members for perusal at all meetings of the Association.

14.2.2 Copies of the rules shall be supplied free to all members on request.

14.3 Alteration of Rules:

14.3.1 The statement of objects and these rules may be altered, rescinded or added to only by a special resolution of the Association.

14.3.2 Notice of motion to alter, rescind or add to this statement of objects or these rules shall be given in writing to the Secretary not less than forty-two days before the general meeting to which such motion is to be submitted.

15. CUSTODY OF BOOKS

15.1 Except as otherwise provided by these rules, the Public Officer shall keep in their custody or control all records, books and other documents relating to the Association.

16. INSPECTION OF BOOKS

- 16.1 The records, books and other documents of the Association shall be open to inspection, free of charge, by a member of the Association at any reasonable hour.

17. SERVICE OF NOTICES

- 17.1 A notice may be served by or on behalf of the Association upon any member either personally or by sending it by post to the member at the member's address shown in the register.
- 17.2 Where a document is sent to a person by properly addressing, prepaying and posting a letter containing it, the document shall, unless the contrary is proved, be deemed to be have served on the person at the time at which the letter would have been delivered in the ordinary course of post.

18. DISSOLUTION, AND DISTRIBUTION OF SURPLUS ASSETS

- 18.1 A Special General Meeting convened for the purpose may resolve that the Association be dissolved.
- 18.2 In the event of the organisation being dissolved, the amount which remains after such dissolution and the satisfaction of all debts and liabilities, shall be paid and applied by the Committee in accordance with their powers to any fund, institution or authority, which is a non-profit organisation.